DRAFT

Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 10 JULY 2019

Councillors Present: Adrian Abbs, Phil Barnett, Jeff Beck (Substitute) (In place of Jeff Cant), Hilary Cole, Carolyne Culver, Clive Hooker (Chairman), Claire Rowles, Martha Vickers (Substitute) (In place of Tony Vickers) and Howard Woollaston

Also Present: Sharon Armour (Solicitor), Jessica Bailiss (Policy Officer (Executive Support)), Derek Carnegie (Team Leader - Development Control), Paul Goddard (Team Leader - Highways Development Control) and Dennis Greenway (Conservation Officer)

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting: Councillor Jeff Cant and Councillor Tony Vickers

PART I

13. Declarations of Interest

Councillors Clive Hooker, Hilary Cole, Jeff Beck, Carolyn Culver, Adrian Abbs and Phil Barnett declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(1). Councillors Jeff Beck, Phil Barnett and Adrian Abbs declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(2). Councillors Claire Rowles, Jeff Beck and Adrian Abbs declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(3). However, they reported that, as their interest was a personal or an other registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

Councillor Phil Barnett and Jeff Beck declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4 (1) and 4 (2), but reported that as their interest was a personal or an other registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

14. Schedule of Planning Applications

(1) Application No. and Parish: 19/00806/HOUSE - 24 Donnington Square, Newbury

(Councillors Clive Hooker, Hilary Cole, Carolyn Culver, Jeff Beck, Adrian Abbs and Phil Barnett declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(1). As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillors Jeff Beck and Phil Barnett declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(1) by virtue of the fact that they were members of Newbury Town Council and their Planning and Highways Committee. Councillors Beck and Barnett had been present when the application was discussed, but would consider the application afresh. As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

1. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(1)) concerning Planning Application 19/00806/HOUSE in respect of a three storey side extension and new porch.

- 2. Derek Carnegie introduced the report to Members, which had been considered at the Committee meeting on 12 June 2019 but deferred to provide time for a Heritage Assessment (HA) to be included as part of the application. Essentially Officers were satisfied that all their concerns had been resolved through the current planning application. Detailed discussions had taken place with the applicant to reach a solution whereby the extension could go ahead, whilst taking the neighbour's concerns into account. A compromise had been reached in the view of Officers that would not impact upon the amenity of the neighbouring property.
- 3. The update sheet included reasons why the application had been deferred and a series of reports were not included accordingly. Letters that both supported and objected to the application had been received and a series of conflicting matters had been raised.
- 4. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, Charlotte Hawkins, objector, and Matt Taylor, agent, addressed the Committee on this application.
- 5. Charlotte Hawkins in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - Ms Hawkins had lived at number 23 Donnington Square for 17 years and had not witnessed a similar scheme.
 - The application was contrary to Policy CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (Historic Environment and Landscape Character), as it would not be appropriate in terms of location, scale or design.
 - Donnington Square was a conservation area and therefore any development should enhance the area. Conservation areas were a type of 'designated heritage asset' and therefore the necessary weight needed to be given to the asset's conservation.
 - Ms Hawkins felt that a number of key issues had been overlooked by the Planning Inspector.
 - 24 Donnington Square was prominent on the street scene accordingly to the Officer's report and therefore was a controversial proposal.
 - The current proposal if approved would not cause a symmetrical silhouette. In Ms Hawkins' view the extension would not be of high quality.
 - The proposal provided only a 200mm reduction in height and width from the previous proposal that was deemed unacceptable.
 - No explanations had been provided to say why Planning Officers had not considered the advice given by the Conservation Officer.
 - There were a number of anomalies in the letter submitted by Bell Cornwell, which in Ms Hawkins view provided conflicting comments.
 - This was the third application to extend 24 Donnington Square. The two previous applications had been deemed as unsatisfactory.
 - Objections had been raised by Newbury Town Council and the Newbury Society due to the extent to which the proposal would compromise the conservation area.
 - If approved the area would look muddled and this would lead to harm.
- 6. Councillor Hilary Cole noted that Ms Hawkins had referred to the single glazed conservatory as a habitable room and asked why this was. Ms Hawkins stated that she had done so because it was a conservatory. Councillor Cole stated that a conservatory was not considered a habitable room in planning terms.

- 7. Matt Taylor in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - Mr Taylor was attending the Committee on behalf of the applicant.
 - The reason the application had been deferred was because of the late submission of information by Ms Hawkins.
 - The application was recommended for approval. The applicant had submitted a
 Heritage Statement, which had been provided by James Weir, who was a
 Guardian and Case Work Committee Member of the Society for the Protection of
 Ancient Buildings.
 - James Weir had concluded that the proposal preserved the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and would not result in harm on the significance of Number 24 as a non-designated heritage asset.
 - The proposal would not harm the area and would improve symmetry in Mr Taylor's view.
 - The amenity of number 23 Donnington Square had been raised at the previous Committee meeting on 12 June 2019, largely in respect of overshadowing. Given the position of the properties, number 24 already caused overshadowing at one time of the day in early spring. This shadowing would only be marginally increased if the application was approved and would not affect the amenity of number 23.
 - The Newbury Society had suggested that the extension proposed was larger than the existing extension at number 25 Donnington Square. This was not the case. Since this comment a new site plan had been submitted and showed the proposed extension to be narrower than the extension at number 25.
 - It was important to note that there had also been 10 letters in support of the application and the Town Council had not raised any objection once the scheme had been altered. Mr Taylor therefore urged the Committee to approve the application.
- 8. Councillor Adrian Abbs referred to the overshadowing diagrams. He recalled that it had been mentioned that the overshadowing would not cause harm however, in his view there were a couple of anomalies with regards to this matter. He noted the shadow from the fence across the property and that the fence was marked on the diagram as the sight line. At the site visit Councillor Abs had noted that there was a hedge that dropped down in height and therefore he could not see how the diagram was correct and asked Mr Taylor to confirm this point. Mr Taylor stated that in relation to the extension the shadow diagram was correct. The image was drawn from the fence and not the hedge Councillor Abbs was referring to, as it was not considered a fixed object. The main shadowing was caused by the property itself.
- 9. Councillor Abbs referred to the two hour gaps detailed in the report and he was concerned about the conservatory that was not shown in the shadow diagram and asked Mr Taylor to address his concerns. Mr Taylor commented that his understanding was that the conservatory was located to the rear of the property and therefore was not on the diagram. Councillor Abbs asked Mr Taylor to confirm that shadowing would be caused between 8am and 10am if the application was approved. Mr Taylor did not agree with the statement because shadowing was already caused by the property between 8am and 10am. The aim of the diagram was to show the marginal change in shadowing between the two schemes that had been submitted. The extension if approved would cause shadowing towards 10am however, before this time shadowing was already caused by the existing property.

- 10. Councillor Claire Rowles asked for the maximum period the shadowing would have an impact. Mr Taylor stated that because of the position of the sun in early spring, this was when there would be most sensitivity to shadowing. This was not an issue in the summer when the sun was positioned much higher.
- 11. Councillor Abbs noted that Mr Taylor had mentioned that both symmetry and balance needed to be taken into consideration when determining the application and asked which Mr Taylor thought was most important. In Mr Taylor's view there was no overriding need for the extension to create exact symmetry. In terms of the street scene, balance was most important. Number 24 Donnington Square should not be treated as a listed building and was not an exact replica of number 25.
- 12. There were no questions and therefore the Chairman invited Members to pose questions to Officers.
- 13. Councillor Cole asked Mr Carnegie to confirm in planning terms whether a conservatory was considered to be habitable. Councillor Cole also asked for clarity regarding where the conservatory was positioned. Mr Carnegie confirmed that a conservatory was not classed as habitable in planning terms and from the diagram it could be seen that the extension was set back but was unable to confirm the exact location of the conservatory.
- 14. Councillor Jeff Beck referred to hours of work if the application was approved and noted that this was not detailed in conditions. Mr Carnegie assured Councillor Beck that this could be included if the application was approved.
- 15. Councillor Abbs asked Mr Carnegie how close the decision was in his mind between approving or refusing the application. Mr Carnegie stated that the recommendation for approval was clear cut in his opinion.
- 16. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to begin a debate on the item.
- 17. Councillor Phil Barnett highlighted that Donnington Square was one of the most important original areas of North West Newbury. Overtime, Members had seen various proposals for extensions in the area, but these had often been balanced. The first part of the road's street scene was evenly balanced and Councillor Barnett's main concern was whether the proposal would fit in with other alterations in the area..
- 18. Councillor Cole stated that she completely disagreed with the comments made by Councillor Barnett. She agreed that Donnington Square was an iconic square however, it was built in the Victorian times to a Georgian pattern and therefore was already varying in appearance. The house next door to the application site was a two storey modern property. She advised that anyone buying a property next to a three or four storey property was going to incur a degree of overshadowing. Donnington Square did not demonstrate a perfect example of Georgian architecture and Councillor Cole referred to another property in the area that was a Georgian/gothic building with red brick. Councillor Cole did not feel that the street of Donnington Square would be tarnished if the application was approved because it was already so varied and she therefore proposed that Members approve the Officer recommendation to grant planning permission. This proposal was seconded by Councillor Beck.
- 19. Councillor Abbs was undecided on the application. The existing extension to the right of the application site had not caused an impact in terms of shadowing because of where the sun set however, the proposal would have a negative effect with regards to shadowing. He noted that Mr Carnegie had stated that the gap between properties would not be closed however, in Councillor Abbs view the gap would be substantially reduced and number 24 would be affected.

20. The Chairman invited Members to vote on the proposal by Councillor Cole that was seconded by Councillor Beck. At the vote the motion was carried.

RESOLVED that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

1. Commencement of development

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

<u>Reason:</u> To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2. Approved plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and documents listed below:

- 2929-02E-A1 received 17/05/19
- 2929-02E-A3 received 21/05/19
- 2929-01 received 25/03/19
- Location Plan received 25/03/19

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

3. Materials as specified and to match

The materials to be used in the development hereby permitted shall be as specified on the plans and/or the application forms. Where stated that materials shall match the existing, those materials shall match those on the existing development in colour, size and texture.

Reason: To ensure that the external materials respond to local character and appearance. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy 2006-2026, Quality Design SPD (Part 2, June 2006), and House Extensions SPG 04/2 (July 2004).

4. Tree protection

No development (including site clearance and any other preparatory works) shall commence on site until a scheme for the protection of trees to be retained is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include a plan showing the location of the protective fencing, and shall specify the type of protective fencing. All such fencing shall be erected prior to any development works taking place and at least 2 working days' notice shall be given to the Local Planning Authority that it has been erected. It shall be maintained and retained for the full duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. No activities or storage of materials whatsoever shall take place within the protected areas without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.

Note: The protective fencing should be as specified at Chapter 6 and detailed in figure 2 of B.S.5837:2012.

Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the retention of existing trees and natural features during the construction phase in accordance with the objectives of the NPPF and Policies CS14, CS18 and CS19 of West Berkshire Core

Strategy 2006-2026. A pre-commencement condition is necessary because insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; tree protection installation measures may be required to be undertaken throughout the construction phase and so it is necessary to approve these details before any development takes place.

5. Hours of work

No demolition or construction works shall take place outside the following hours:

7:30am to 6:00pm Mondays to Fridays;

8:30am to 1:00pm Saturdays; and

No work to be carried out at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

<u>Reason:</u> To safeguard the amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Policy OVS.5 and OVS.6 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 Saved Policies 2007.

INFORMATIVES

1. Proactive actions of the LPA

The Local Planning Authority (LPA) has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to dealing with a planning application. In particular, the LPA:

- a) Provided the applicant with a case officer as a single point of contact.
- b) Alerted the applicant to issues that were raised during the consideration of the application.
- c) Accepted amended plans to address issues arising during the consideration of the application.
- d) Agreed an extension of time before determining the application to enable negotiations with the applicant.
- e) Entered into protracted considerations/negotiations in order to find a solution to problems with the proposed development, rather than refusing planning permission without negotiation.

2. Damage to footways, cycleways and verges

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Berkshire Act, 1986, Part II, Clause 9, which enables the Highway Authority to recover the costs of repairing damage to the footway, cycleway or grass verge, arising during building operations.

3. Damage to the carriageway

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Highways Act, 1980, which enables the Highway Authority to recover expenses due to extraordinary traffic.

(2) Application No. and Parish: 19/00577/FULD - 6 Northwood Drive, Newbury

(Councillors Jeff Beck, Adrian Abbs and Phil Barnett declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(2). As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

(Councillor Jeff Beck and Phil Barnett declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 4(2) by virtue of the fact that they were members of Newbury Town Council and their Planning and Highways Committee. Councillors Beck and Barnett had been present when the application was discussed, but would consider the application afresh. As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

- 1. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(2)) concerning Planning Application 19/00577/FULD in respect of a new single family dwelling.
- 2. Mr Derek Carnegie, Planning Officer, introduced the item to Members of the Committee. The application site was located within a cul-de-sac on a corner plot, which was rectangular in shape. A previous application for the site had been refused and subsequently dismissed at appeal on 9 January 2019 on grounds relating to the lack of external amenity space, which was approximately 35m2. The Appeal Inspector had concluded that the proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the area but would leave inadequate garden space for the occupiers of the existing house at no.6 Northwood Drive.
- 3. The revised proposal showed the removal of the existing garage within the site and subdivision of the garden or the property to provide an L shaped garden approximately 100m2 in the area for the existing dwelling and 92m2 in the area for the proposed dwelling. Mr Carnegie drew attention to the Appeal Inspector's comments under section 8.2.2.2 of the report, which in essence depicted that the proposal was not significant.
- 4. Taking all aspects into account it was felt by Officer's that on balance the proposal could be supported due to the increase in amenity space.
- Mr Carnegie concluded that there had been a continuing debate regarding detailed measurements. Officers were satisfied that the space made available by the scheme was sufficient.
- 6. The Chairman invited Paul Goddard, Highways Officer to address the Committee.
- 7. Paul Goddard reported that the proposal was in-keeping with the Council's requirements regarding car parking. An access to the site had already been provided however, this was not a highways requirement within a cul-de-sac. Paul Goddard confirmed that therefore there were no objections from a Highways perspective.
- 8. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, Marion Mottram, objector, Andrew Hamey, agent and Councillor Jeff Beck, Ward Member, addressed the Committee on this application.
- 9. Marion Mottram in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - Ms Mottram was also raising objections to the application on behalf of herself and her neighbours.
 - This was the third planning application for the site. The other two had been refused.

- There would be overshadowing caused to neighbouring properties and Ms Mottram was concerned about highway safety.
- The new proposal increased amenity space to 100m2, but this was still below Council guidance by 15%.
- CAD survey drawings completed by a suitably qualified professional had shown 175m2 for No.6 Northwood Drive based on laser measurements. This information had been forwarded to the Planning Department and therefore Ms Mottram was surprised the issue was still being disputed.
- Ms Mottram had noted that the agent had advised that her property (No.8) and other neighbouring properties had smaller garden sizes than the proposal. Ms Mottram disagreed with this as according to her own measurements, the garden space outside her property, including the front garden totalled 105m2 and her neighbour's garden totalled 103m2.
- There did not seem to be a design boundary to the front of the site as it was all parking spaces, which was adverse to the street scene.
- The plot was located on a sharp bend and visibility would be an issue. Vehicles trying to enter and exit the drive would cause problems.
- Ms Mottram was deeply concerned regarding the impact the proposal would have on the street scene. There were only 29 properties in the cul-de-sac and over 20 had objected to the application.
- 10. There were no questions raised by Members.
- 11. Andrew Hamey in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - Mr Hamey believed that the application fulfilled the criteria in planning regulations.
 - The Appeal Inspector's report had not stated that the proposal would be out of character with the area.
 - Mr Hamey believed that all the objections had been covered in the Planning Officer's report.
 - Mr Hamey did not agree with the objectors comments concerning amenity space.
 95m2 was larger than some of the neighbouring gardens.
 - Other properties had been built in the Newbury area with small gardens.
 - Removal of the hedge and lamp post would improve visibility when entering and exiting the site.
 - One more dwelling would not be detrimental to the area in Mr Hamey's view and it would allow another family the opportunity to live in a lovely area. He did not feel that the development, if approved, would set a precedent.
- 12. Councillor Abbs referred to concerns raised about amenity space and noted that Mr Hamey had mentioned 95m2. This represented a 15% difference. He asked Mr Hamey to comment. Mr Hamey stated that both he and his architect had measured the site and there had only been a 5m2 difference between their measurements. If the access had not been included in the objector's measurements then they could not be counted as correct.
- 13. Councillor Phil Barnett noted that Mr Hamey had referred to other developments in Newbury will small gardens and asked him to identify which sites he was referring to.

Mr Hamey confirmed that plots in both Sutton Road and St Nicholas Road had small gardens. There were also properties and flats that did not have a garden at all.

- 14. Councillor Jeff Beck, in addressing the Committee as Ward Member, raised the following points:
 - Members had heard the comments from the objector and Ms Mottram had confirmed that she represented over half the residents on Northwood Drive.
 - The particular road being considered displayed house frontages and if approved a corner site would be permitted or 'a bit on the side of a house'. In Councillor Beck's view it was a clear case of 'garden grabbing' and was contrary to CS14.
 - Newbury Town Council had raised objection to the proposal.
 - A lot of weight was being placed on the Appeal Inspector's comments however, Councillor Beck felt that Members needed to also consider the Council's own aims for acceptable development.
 - Currently there was one house and a good sized garden on the plot. The applicant had dropped the kerb in anticipation of the application being approved.
 - If the application was approved there would be an extended house, with a reduced garden and no garage. Another house would be located in the current garden, plus car parking spaces for three cars on a corner site.
 - A number of concerns had been raised about the plot being located on a 90 degree bend.
 - Councillor Beck felt that if approved the site would cause people to wonder how such a scheme was permitted.
 - Councillor Beck did not feel that the proposal was in keeping with the street scene and if approved would be detrimental to the area.
- 15. Councillor Hilary Cole asked for clarification on what Policy CS14 covered and if Officers felt that this particular policy would be compromised if the application was approved. Mr Carnegie confirmed that in Officer's view the proposal would tick the right boxes to create an environment people would be happy to live in.
- 16. Councillor Cole noted that Councillor Beck had referred to the plot being on a 90 degree bend and asked Paul Goddard to comment regarding safety, particularly given that the location was within a cul-de-sac. Paul Goddard reported that the road in question provided access to 27 dwellings. An access could be formed without planning permission. Sight lines had been mentioned and Paul Goddard stated that there was nothing to stop the applicant erecting a one metre fence on the site or planting hedges or trees. There was a 0.6 metre high fence in place currently and therefore it could be said that the sight lines would be improved by the proposal.
- 17. Councillor Howard Woollaston noted properties on the road were of the 1970's era and asked how the elevation of the proposal would differ to current properties. Mr Carnegie confirmed that the elevation of other properties along the road would be replicated and the view would be symmetrical.
- 18. Councillor Woollaston further questioned how a vehicle in the middle car parking space would be moved. Paul Goddard confirmed that the first car would have to be moved in order to get the middle vehicle out. Paul Goddard confirmed that having three car parking spaces in a row was very common.

- 19. Councillor Abbs referred to the letter by the objector. The garage wall would be demolished and the objector was concerned how this was would be taken down. Mr Carnegie stated that this would be a civil matter between the two parties and was not a matter the Council could dictate.
- 20. Councillor Claire Rowles noted that the car parking spaces were very close to the dwelling and asked if there were any concerns about this. Mr Carnegie stated that Highways had confirmed that they were satisfied with the application and therefore this was not an issue.
- 21. Councillor Rowles noted that the applicant had fulfilled policy regarding the number of car parking spaces. She had attended the site visit and had felt that the spaces sat awkwardly against the existing arrangements on the corner. Councillor Rowles queried if the Highways Officer had any further comments regarding safety. Paul Goddard stated that he had no further comments.
- 22. Councillor Woollaston asked if the garage had to be taken down before building on the site could commence. Mr Carnegie confirmed that the garage would need to be taken down prior to development.
- 23. The Chairman invited Members to begin a debate on the item.
- 24. Councillor Beck stated that he had lived in the area for 50 years and he felt the application would have an adverse effect on the street scene. If approved, Members would be allowing a garden space below the recommended standard. Councillor Beck was opposed to the application and urged the Committee to refuse planning permission.
- 25. Councillor Barnett reported that in the past he had been a Member for Turnpike and Clay Hill. He was aware of 'garden grabbing' and that had been his reason for asking the applicant to identify other areas with small garden spaces and it was apparent that there were quite a few. Councillor Barnett was however concerned about the location being on a corner plot and he wondered how the site would be accessed if approved. There were a number of other sites which were well suited to an extra dwelling however, like Councillor Beck he did not feel the application site was suitable and therefore he would not be able to support approval of the application.
- 26. Mr Carnegie reminded Members that solid reasons for refusal would be required if they were minded to refuse the application in order for the case to stand up at appeal. The only reason the Appeal Inspector had not accepted the site was because of the amenity space provided and this had been resolved. There would be risk that the Council could face costs if the application was refused.
- 27. Councillor Barnett felt that the impact the proposal would have on the street scene would be a sound reason for refusal.
- 28. Councillor Cole felt that it was a difficult application to determine. She understood the concerns of the residents and the concerns raised by Councillor Beck. However the proposal was acceptable with regards to Planning Policy. Members had been in similar situations before where they had not been keen on the appearance of a proposal but no solid reasons for refusal could be formed. Councillor Cole stated that positively, if approved, the proposal would provide a much needed three bedroom dwelling. It was important to consider the whole application and make a judgment based on planning policy and not just appearance.
- 29. Councillor Abbs referred to the fact that the proposed amenity space was 15% below the guideline. He therefore felt that the application could be refused on lack of amenity space.

- 30. Councillor Beck proposed that Members refuse planning permission because the proposal was not in keeping with the street scene. It was also important to take account of the views from over half of the residents living on the street who had objected. As Councillor Abbs had mentioned the garden was still below the recommended size by 15% and local people were concerned the plot was located on a sharp bend. Councillor Abbs seconded the proposal by Councillor Beck.
- 31. Councillor Woollaton queried if the application could be deferred until measurements of the amenity space were clarified. Mr Carnegie stated that it was important to note that the guidelines were only recommendations and not stipulations.
- 32. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by Councillor Beck, seconded by Councillor Abbs, and at the vote the motion was not carried.
- 33. Councillor Cole proposed that Members approve the Officer recommendation to grant planning permission and this was seconded by Councillor Woollaston. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by Cole, seconded by Councillor Woollaston and at the vote the motion was carried.

RESOLVED that the Head of Development and Planning be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

1. Commencement of development

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

<u>Reason:</u> To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2. Approved plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and documentation:

- (i) Location plan received on 1 March 2019 (but not the 1:500 block shown on the same drawing which is superseded).
- (ii) Proposed elevations received on 1 March 2019; and
- (iii) Proposed site plan received on 25 May 2019.

<u>Reason:</u> For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

3. Electric charging point

No development hereby permitted shall take place until details of an electric vehicle charging point has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The dwelling shall not be occupied until an electric vehicle charging point has been provided in accordance with the approved details. The charging point shall thereafter be retained and kept available for the approved use.

<u>Reason:</u> To promote the use of electric vehicles. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies CS13 and CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Policy P1 of the Housing Site Allocation DPD and Policy TRANS1 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007).

4. Surfacing of access

No development hereby permitted shall take place until details of the surfacing arrangements for the vehicular access to the highway have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall ensure that bonded material is used across the entire width of the access for a distance of 3 metres measured back from the carriageway edge. Thereafter the surfacing arrangements shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details.

<u>Reason:</u> To avoid migration of loose material onto the highway in the interest of road safety. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026).

5. External facing materials

The external facing materials to be used on the dwelling hereby permitted shall match those on the existing dwelling known as no.6 Northwood Drive.

Reason: To ensure that the external materials respond to the surrounding built form. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Supplementary Planning Document Quality Design (June 2006) and Supplementary Planning Guidance 04/2 House Extensions (July 2004).

6. Cycle storage

No development hereby permitted shall take place until details of the cycle parking and storage space have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The dwelling shall not be occupied until the cycle parking and storage space has been provided in accordance with the approved details and retained for this purpose at all times.

<u>Reason:</u> To ensure that there is adequate and safe cycle storage space within the site. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018), Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Policy TRANS1 of

the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007).

7. A scheme to minimise the effects of dust

No development hereby permitted shall take place until details of a scheme to minimise the effects of dust emissions from the construction of the approved dwelling have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Policy OVS.5 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 Saved Policies 2007. A pre-commencement condition is necessary because insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; a scheme to minimise the effects of dust is required throughout the construction phase and therefore it is necessary to agree before development commences.

8. Landscaping scheme (including hard surfacing)

No development hereby permitted shall take place (including site clearance and any other preparatory works) until full details of both hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the treatment of hard surfacing and materials to be used, a schedules of plants (noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities), an implementation programme, and details of written specifications including cultivation and other operations involving tree, shrub and grass establishment. The scheme shall ensure:

- a) completion of the approved landscaping within the first planting season following the completion of the development; and
- b) Any trees, shrubs or plants that die or become seriously damaged within five years of the completion of the development shall be replaced in the following year by plants of the same size and species.

Thereafter the approved scheme shall be implemented in full.

Reason: To ensure the implementation of a satisfactory scheme of landscaping in accordance with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policies CS14, CS18 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026). A precommencement condition is necessary because insufficient detailed

information accompanies the application; landscaping measures may require work to be undertaken throughout the construction phase and so it is necessary to approve these details before any development takes place.

9. Sustainable drainage measures

No development hereby permitted shall take place until a scheme for surface water drainage, based on sustainable drainage principles, has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be completed in its entirety prior to the first of the occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure the surface water will be managed in a sustainable manner. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CS16 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026). A pre-commencement condition is necessary because insufficient detailed information accompanies the application; sustainable drainage measures may require work to be undertaken throughout the construction phase and so it is necessary to approve these details before any development takes place.

10. Hours of work

No demolition or construction works shall take place outside the following hours:

7:30am to 6:00pm Mondays to Fridays;

8:30am to 1:00pm Saturdays; and

No work to be carried out at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Policy OVS.5 and OVS.6 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 Saved Policies 2007.

11. Parking in accordance with approved plans

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the vehicle parking has been surfaced, marked out and provided in accordance with the approved plan(s). The parking and/or turning space shall thereafter be kept available for parking (of private motor cars and/or light goods vehicles) at all times.

<u>Reason:</u> To ensure the development is provided with adequate parking facilities, in order to reduce the likelihood of roadside parking that would adversely affect road safety and the flow of traffic. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy

Framework (2019), Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and Policy TRANS1 of the West Berkshire District Local Plan 1991-2006 (Saved Policies 2007).

12. Temporary parking

No development hereby permitted shall take place until details of a temporary parking and turning area to be provided and maintained concurrently with the development of the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved parking and turning area shall be provided at the commencement of development and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details until the development has been completed. During this time, the approved parking and turning area shall be kept available for parking and used by employees, contractors, operatives and other visitors during all periods that they are working at or visiting the site.

<u>Reason:</u> To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking and turning facilities during the construction period. This condition is imposed in order to minimise the incidences of off-site parking in the locality which could cause danger to other road users, and inconvenience to local residents. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026).

13. Visibility splays

The fence located on the boundary between the vehicle access and existing lamppost to the east must not exceed 0.6 metres in height as shown on the site plan drawing with amended highway notes dated 20/05/19 and this part of the site shall be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 0.6 metres above the carriageway level.

<u>Reason:</u> In the interests of pedestrian and road safety. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and Policy CS13 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026).

14. Boundary treatment

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the approved boundary treatment has been provided in accordance with the approved plans.

<u>Reason:</u> To safeguard the amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers. This condition is imposed in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policy CS14 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026) and guidance contained with West Berkshire SPD Quality Design.

15 Permitted development restriction (extensions/outbuildings)

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order with or without modification), no extensions, alterations, buildings or other development which would otherwise be permitted by Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C and/or E of that Order shall be carried out, without planning permission being granted by the Local Planning Authority on an application made for that purpose.

<u>Reason:</u> To prevent the overdevelopment of the site and in the interests of respecting the character and appearance of the surrounding area. This condition is applied in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Policies CS14 and CS19 of the West Berkshire Core Strategy (2006-2026), Quality Design SPD (June 2006) and the Newbury Town Design Statement.

INFORMATIVES

1. Approval- Need for revision/ representations received

This decision has been made in a positive way to foster the delivery of sustainable development having regard to Development Plan policies and available guidance to secure high quality appropriate development. In this application whilst there has been a need to balance conflicting considerations, the local planning authority has worked proactively with the applicant to secure and accept what is considered to be a development which improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

2. Damage to footways, cycleways and verges

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Berkshire Act, 1986, Part II, Clause 9, which enables the Highway Authority to recover the costs of repairing damage to the footway, cycleway or grass verge, arising during building operations.

3. Damage to the carriageway

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Highways Act, 1980, which enables the Highway Authority to recover expenses due to extraordinary traffic.

4. Construction/demolition noise

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works, can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.

5. Thames Water: Waste water

As you are redeveloping a site, there may be public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you discover a sewer, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your development doesn't reduce capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes. https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes.

Thames Water: Mains water

Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.

WASTE COMMENT

As you are redeveloping a site, there may be public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you discover a sewer, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your development doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our quide working near or diverting our pipes. https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-largesite/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes.

With regard to surface water drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you require further information please refer to our website. https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewater-services

Thames Water would advise that with regard to waste water network and waste water process infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning application, based on the information provided

WATER COMMENT

If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, it's important you let Thames Water know before you start using it, to avoid potential fines for improper usage. More information and how to apply can be found online at thameswater.co.uk/buildingwater.

On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise that with regard to water network and water treatment infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning application. Thames Water recommends the following informative be attached to this planning permission. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.

7. CIL informative

The development hereby approved results in a requirement to make payments to the Council as part of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) procedure. A Liability Notice setting out further details, and including the amount of CIL payable will be sent out separately from this Decision Notice. You are advised to read the Liability Notice and ensure that a Commencement Notice is submitted to the authority prior to the commencement of the development. Failure to submit the Commencement Notice will result in the loss of any exemptions claimed, and the loss of any right to pay by instalments, and additional costs to you in the form of surcharges. For further details see the website at www.westberks.gov.uk/cil.

8. Ownership

You must obtain the prior consent of the owner and occupier of any land upon which it is necessary for you to enter in order construct, externally finish, decorate, or in any other way carry out any works in connection with this development, or to obtain any support from adjoining property. This permission granted by the Council in no way authorises you to take such action without first obtaining this consent.

(3) Application No. and Parish: 18/03398/HOUSE - Winterley House, Kintbury

(Councillors Jeff Beck, Adrian Abbs and Claire Rowles declared that they had been lobbied on Agenda Item 4(3). As their interest was personal and not prejudicial or a disclosable pecuniary interest, they determined to remain to take part in the debate and vote on the matter.)

- 1. The Committee considered a report (Agenda Item 4(3)) concerning Planning Application 18/03398/HOUSE in respect of a two storey and single storey extension.
- Derek Carnegie introduced the application which was located within the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and was classed as a nondesignated heritage asset. In Officers' view, if approved the proposal would harm the existence of the non-designated heritage asset. There were no clear reasons to accept the application.
- 3. The Committee resolution for the application on 13th March was for the deferment of the application pending appeal decision. The appeal was subsequently dismissed by

the Planning Inspectorate. The application had been considered again at Committee on 12 June 2019 but deferred pending a second Committee site visit, which had since taken place. Mr Carnegie confirmed that the appeal decision was included with the report and emphasised the concerns raised by Officers.

- 4. If Members were minded to approve the application, it would need to be referenced up to the District Planning Committee for final decision.
- 5. In accordance with the Council's Constitution, Markus McNally, applicant, Frank Dowling, agent and Councillor Claire Rowles and Councillor James Cole, Ward Members, addressed the Committee on this application.
- 6. Markus McNally (applicant) and Frank Dowling (agent) in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - Mr Dowling stated that Members who had attended the site visit had been shown an artist's impression of the proposal.
 - The building was not listed and was not featured on West Berkshire's list of heritage buildings. The previous application had however, referred to the building as a Heritage Asset.
 - The main building had been altered over the years and had two modern frontages.
 - The current application set the extension down and back and was clearly subservient to the main building.
 - Mr Dowling explained that although the Orangery might look strange, orangeries were long and narrow by nature. The home office was located towards the back of the orangery.
 - The artist's impression of the proposal showed the extension was truly subservient to the existing dwelling.
 - The extension had been reduced by two metres from the previous application and did not protrude further than the existing garage.
 - No objections had been raised by the Parish Council, AONB or neighbouring properties.
 - Consideration to the impact on the existing building was highly subjective.
 - Mr Dowling gave a similar example of a property in Leckhampstead where the Planning Officers had recommended refusal but Members had taken a different view.
 - Mr McNally drew attention to a note in the update sheet which stated there was no change in the overall scale of the development. Mr McNally stated that the proposal had been reduced by two metres and therefore there was a significant change in scale.
 - Mr McNally emphasised that they were very proud of the house and were complimented by the fact that it was considered a heritage asset.
- 7. Councillor Hilary Cole noted that Mr McNally had stated that there had been a significant change in the proposal and that the extension would be set down and back from what was previously proposed. Councillor Cole asked Mr McNally to clarify this point. Mr McNally confirmed that the ridge height had been reduced by nearly 500mm. The walled part of the extension had been brought down and set back.

- 8. Councillor Cole referred to Mr Dowling's comment regarding an application in Leckhamstead and asked if he understood that each application was judged on its own merits. Mr Dowling was aware of this point.
- 9. Councillor Claire Rowles asked Mr McNally if he owned the other two dwelling located on the plot and he confirmed that he did.
- 10. Councillor James Cole, in addressing the Committee as Ward Member, raised the following points:
 - In Councillor James Cole's view the house was a mock up and was in fact a very good fake of a house built in a much older period. This was why the house was not a listed building.
 - Councillor James Cole stated that he lived in a modern Georgian style house and the building under consideration was also a property built in modern times.
 - Based on the fact that the building was a mock up, the proposal should be approved. The extension was subservient to and in keeping with the main building.
- 11. Councillor Claire Rowles in addressing the Committee raised the following points:
 - There had been no objections received from nearby residents.
 - There had been no concerns raised regarding the view point from the road.
 - Mr Carnegie had stated that the proposal would be detrimental to the area due its scale however in Councillor Rowles view, considering the size of the plot and considerable garden size this would not be an issue.
 - The size of the proposed extension was very much subservient to the main building.
 - Councillor Rowles did not see how the proposal could be considered a poor design.
- 12. Councillor Adrian Abbs stated that Planning Officers' had looked at an artist's impression of the building and assumed it was built earlier than it was. Councillor Abbs was concerned about the patio area to the right of the proposal and steps down to a seating/garden area, which was in a pleasant setting. Councillor Abbs referred back to plans, where a red line was shown on the diagram and stated that he could not recall seeing a fence in the area. Mr Carnegie stated that discussions had not concluded regarding the accurate size of the plot and this could be deferred until full details of the development had been received. From Officers' point of view, the reductions made to plans since the previous application was not enough to warrant approval.
- 13. The Chairman stated that the garden only extended to the line shown and therefore the area being considered was not overly large. Dennis Greenway, Principal Conservation and Design Officer, stated that the plan did not show the change in size of the proposal, which had been reduced by two metres.
- 14. Councillor Cole noted that the building had been described as a fake. Mr Carnegie confirmed that this could be true however, the building had been listed in the past. Mr Carnegie referred to the Planning Inspector's comments, which emphasised the points made in the Planning Officer's report. The building was not listed however, was within the sensitive AONB, which should not be harmed by an overly sized extension.

- 15. Councillor Rowles referred back to the size of the plot and asked Mr Carnegie if he agreed that it was a large plot that was being discussed. Mr Carnegie agreed with this point and also that the plot perimeters needed further investigation. Mr Carnegie confirmed that the planning plot was considered to be what had been used for residential purposes/garden area for over 10 years. Councillor Rowles felt that it was difficult to make a decision when the size of the plot needed further investigation.
- 16. Councillor Cole recalled that queries about the plot and garden size had been raised at the site visit. It seemed that agricultural land might have been taken in to the curtilage and if this was the case then investigation was required.
- 17. Councillor Howard Woollaston noted that the plot would not be seen from anywhere nearby. Mr Carnegie stated that if this was the criteria then the application could be deemed acceptable however, the impact on the countryside had to be taken in to consideration.
- 18. The Chairman invited Members to begin a debate on the item.
- 19. Councillor Jeff Beck stated that he had visited the site about three times and since visiting the site the proposal had been reduced in size. Councillor Beck had no objection to the application and proposed Members approve planning permission.
- 20. Councillor Abbs stated that he had visited the site on two occasions. He felt assured that Officers would investigate the plot size. He could however not see a reason to go against the Planning Officer's recommendation for refusal.
- 21. Councillor Cole referred to the size of the proposal. She did not feel that the applicant had addressed the concerns raised in the Planning Inspector's report regarding the size of the extension. Councillor Cole felt that Members would be unwise to approve the application given the advice from Officers and the Planning Inspector regarding the proposal. The site laid within the AONB and therefore there were stricter planning considerations that needed to be taken in to account. Councillor Cole felt that Members were being side tracked by the large plot size and that there had been no objections raised. These were not reasons to approve the application.
- 22. Mr Carnegie reminded Members that if they were minded to approve the application it would be referenced up to the District Planning Permission for decision.
- 23. Councillor Phil Barnet expressed his support for the application and that he could see no reason to refuse it. He felt that the applicant had considered the proposal very carefully. He felt when visiting the site that the proposal would blend in to its surroundings.
- 24. Councillor Rowles referred to the last meeting where the application had been considered and that there had been a discussion around what caused a building to be classed as a Heritage Asset and it had been concluded that there was uncertainly on how to define a heritage piece. Councillor Rowles felt that some aspects of the Planning Inspector's report had marred the application. Councillor Rowles did not feel there were any good enough reasons to refuse the application.
- 25. Councillor Beck repeated his proposal to approve planning permission and this was seconded by Councillor Rowles. The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to vote on the proposal by Councillor Beck, seconded by Councillor Rowles, and at the vote the motion was carried.

RESOLVED that Members agreed that the Head of Development and Planning should be authorised to grant planning permission. As a result the item would be

referred to the next District Planning Committee for decision for the following reason:

 In the opinion of the planning officers, the application was clearly contrary to adopted national and local planning policies and had been the subject of a very recent planning appeal decision to refuse.

15. Appeal Decisions relating to Western Area Planning Committee

Members noted the outcome of appeal decisions relating to the Western Area.

(The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.34 pm)

CHAIRMAN	
Date of Signature	